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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA
LAKE CHARLES DIVISION

OPEN GATE WESTERN HERITAGE
CHURCH, a Louisiana nonprofit corporation

Case No.

Plaintiff,

CALCASIEU PARISH SCHOOL BOARD,
and WAYNE SAVOY, Superintendent of the
Calcasieu Parish School Board,

Defendants.

)

)

)

)

)
V. ) JUDGE:

)

)

) MAGISTRATE:

)

)

VERIFIED COMPLAINT
Introduction
This action seeks to protect the First and Fourteenth Amendment rights of the Plaintiff, a

church which, until February 27, 2011, had been meeting at facilities owned and controlled by
the Defendant Calcasieu Parish School Board (“the Board”) under a policy that allows “[c]ivic,
religious, governmental, school organizations and Board approved groups” to use, for a fee and
other consideration, school facilities during times that schools are not in session, such as
Sundays. However, as of February 27, the Board began enforcing an unwritten and vague policy
which has the effect of preventing the Plaintiff and other churches from availing themselves of
school facilities on equal terms with other community groups. The actions of the Board
constitute viewpoint discrimination in violation of the protections of the First Amendment and
the Plaintiff has and continues to suffer irreparable harm to its First Amendment rights.
Immediate relief must be granted to stop enforcement of the unwritten policy and allow
churches to continue to exercise their fundamental rights of free expression, free exercise of

religion and freedom of association on equal terms with other community groups.
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Jurisdiction and Venue

1. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1331 and 1343, as
it is an action seeking redress under the laws and statutes of the United States for rights secured
by the Constitution and laws of the United States. This Court has jurisdiction to enter a
declaratory judgment in favor of the Plaintiff under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2201-2202.

2. This Court has jurisdiction over the Plaintiff’s claims arising under the laws and
Constitution of the State of Louisiana pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8 1367(a), as such claims are part of
the same case or controversy giving rise to the claims over which this Court has jurisdiction
under 28 U.S.C. 88 1331 and 1343.

3. Venue properly lies in the Western District of Louisiana under 28 U.S.C. 8
1391(b), as the Defendants reside within this District, all Defendants reside within the State of
Louisiana, and a substantial part of the events giving rise to this action occurred within this
District.

Parties

4. The Plaintiff, Open Gate Western Heritage Church, is a nonprofit, 501(c)(3)
corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Louisiana. The Plaintiff was formed for
the purpose of operating a Christian church and to bring together persons in the Lake Charles,
Louisiana, area who desire to come to know the gospel of Jesus Christ.

5. Defendant Calcasieu Parish School Board (“the Board”) is a body corporate
created and existing under the laws of the State of Louisiana, specifically La. Rev. Stat. § 17:51.
The Board is charged with the establishment, management and control of public schools within

the Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, and with establishing rules, regulations and policies for the
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operation of said schools. In all respects set forth herein, the Board acted under color of the law
of the State of Louisiana.

6. Defendant Wayne Savoy is the duly-appointed and acting Superintendent of
Calcasieu Parish School Board. Under the laws of the State of Louisiana, and Policies of the
Board, Defendant Savoy is charged and delegated with the authority to administer the schools
operated and controlled by the Board and with seeing that the policies adopted by the Board are
carried out and enforced. In all respects set forth herein, Defendant Savoy acted or would act
under color of the law of the State of Louisiana.

Factual Allegations

7. The Board has adopted and currently has in place a written policy entitled “USE
OF SCHOOL FACILITIES” (“Policy KG™), a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A, and which
provides that “the function of school buildings and grounds shall be to accommodate approved
school programs for students and to assist in meeting community needs.”

8. Policy KG provides that use of school buildings by the community is a secondary
function “and shall be scheduled at times which do not interfere with regular school activities.
Civic, religious, governmental, school organizations and Board approved groups may use school
facilities.”

9. Under Policy KG, groups may use school facilities based upon a properly
documented application and a signed lease agreement between the group and the board that
includes (a) a hold harmless statement, (b) the group’s commitment to obtain liability insurance
naming the Board as an additional insured, and (c) a statement by the group to assume

responsibility for damages or maintenance expenses resulting from the use.
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10. Under Policy KG, community groups also pay a fee, established by rules and
regulations of the Superintendent for using school facilities.

11. Pursuant to Policy KG, the Plaintiff has since approximately 2008 used the
cafeteria of Fairview Elementary School, a school under the control of and operated by the
Board, on a regular basis for Sunday religious services. The Plaintiff executed a lease agreement
in connection with the use and paid the Board $40 per week.

12.  These services involve the coming together of persons in accordance with the
tenets of the Christian faith and engaging in prayer, the reading of scripture passages from the
Bible, the singing of religious hymns and anthems, the exposition of Christian beliefs through a
sermon or homily, and engaging in Christian rites such as baptism and the Lord’s Supper (or
Eucharist).

13. In December 2010, the Plaintiff’s pastor, Dr. Mark D. Stagg, was contacted by a
representative of the Board and given notice that after 60 days the Plaintiff could no longer use
the Fairview Elementary cafeteria or any other school facility operated by the Board.

14. Dr. Stagg was informed that the problem perceived by the Board administration is
that churches were using school facilities on a long-term basis and were getting a “free ride.”

15.  On or about December 7, 2010, at its regularly scheduled public meeting, the
Board was presented with a proposal to change the policy and procedure for rental of building
facilities. The minutes for this meeting are attached as Exhibit B.

16. According to the minutes of the meeting, “[s]taff recommended that the
committee grant permission to authorize the school board’s attorney to draft a revision of the
current policy that gives principals more defined guidance as well as updating the fee schedule

and prohibiting the use of schools for worship.” (Exh. B, p. 3).
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17. A motion was made and seconded to approve the staff’s recommendation, and the
motion carried (Exh. B, p. 3).

18.  On February 22, 2011, Pastor Stagg was informed by Karl Bruchhaus, Chief
Financial Officer for the school district, that the Plaintiff would not be allowed to use Fairview
Elementary School for Sunday church services after February 27, 2011 and that the Board had
adopted a policy excluding use of school buildings for “worship,” which policy was now in
effect.

19.  On February 22, 2011, counsel for the Plaintiff contacted the Board’s attorney by
electronic mail to inquire why the Plaintiff was being forbidden from using school buildings for
Sunday church services, pointing out that, to his knowledge, the Board had not taken any action
on a revision to Policy KG.

20. On February 22, 2011, the Board’s attorney sent counsel for the Plaintiff a reply
e-mail message explaining that although no change to Policy KG has been drafted, Brucchaus
believed that the Board had approved a change to the policy and Bruchhaus had instructed school
principals to give the Plaintiff and other religious organizations notice that they would not be
allowed to use school buildings after 60 days.

21.  On information and belief, the Plaintiff alleges that the Board has approved a
policy or practice which would prohibit the Plaintiff from using school buildings for “worship”
and has instructed or allowed Defendant Savoy and Bruchhaus to enforce such a policy or
practice, although there was no written change to Policy KG and the exclusion of the Plaintiff
from using school buildings is on the basis of a policy that has no certain or definite terms.

22. Based upon the unwritten policy and practice of the Board, the Plaintiff has been

excluded from using school buildings and facilities and has been required to relocate its services
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to the McNeese State University Baptist student center, where it pays $200 per week for use of
the facility.

23.  The Plaintiff has and continues to suffer injury, both irreparable and otherwise, as
a result of the unwritten policy and practice of the Board which excludes use of school facilities

3

for “worship.” The Plaintiff’s ability to communicate its respective religious messages, to
engage in religious practices, and to meet together as a church community to engage in this
activity in accordance with the tenets of their respective faiths has been and continues to be
severely burdened.

First Cause of Action
Violation of U.S. Const. Amend. 1 - 42 U.S.C. § 1983

24.  The Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in |
1 through 23 above.

25.  The Board, by adopting an unwritten amendment to Policy KG under which
school facilities may not be used for “worship,” has engaged in viewpoint discrimination in
violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, thereby harming
organizations including the Plaintiff, churches and other religious organizations.

26.  The unwritten policy and/or practice of the Board is vague, indefinite and
overbroad, without any guiding standards for officials applying or enforcing the policy and/or
practice to determine what constitutes “worship,” and so violates the First Amendment to the
United States Constitution.

27.  The Plaintiff’s Sunday services constitute the expression and the exercise of
religion, which are protected by the guarantees to freedom of speech and to free exercise of

religion set forth in the First Amendment to the United States Constitution.
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28.  The Board’s unwritten policy forbidding use of school facilities for “worship”
activities violates the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment to the United States
Constitution in that the policy does not serve a secular purpose and requires excessive
entanglement between the Board and religion in application of the policy.

29.  The application of the unwritten policy forbidding use of school facilities for
“worship” activities by the Defendants and their officers, agents and employees has deprived the
Plaintiff of its rights under the First Amendment and has substantially burdened the Plaintiff in
the exercise of those rights.

30. In depriving the Plaintiff of its rights under the First Amendment, the Defendants
have acted under color of law of the Louisiana.

31.  The Plaintiff is entitled to relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for the deprivation of
rights caused by the Defendants.

Second Cause of Action
Violation of La. Const. Art. I, 887 and 8

32.  The Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in |
1 through 31 above.

33.  The Board, by adopting an unwritten amendment to Policy KG under which
school facilities may not be used for “worship” has engaged in viewpoint discrimination in
violation of the La. Const. Art. I, 8 7 thereby harming the Plaintiff, churches and other religious
organizations.

34.  The unwritten policy and/or practice of the Board is vague, indefinite and
overbroad, without any guiding standards for officials applying or enforcing the policy and/or

practice to determine what constitutes “worship,” and so violates La. Const. Art. I, § 7.
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35.  The Plaintiff’s Sunday services constitute expression and the exercise of religion
that are protected by the guarantees to freedom of speech and to free exercise of religion set forth
in La. Const. Art. |, 8§ 7 and 8.

36.  The application of the unwritten policy forbidding use of school facilities for
“worship” activities by the Defendants and their officers, agents and employees constitutes an
establishment of religion and has deprived the Plaintiff of its rights under La. Const. Art. I, 8§ 7
and 8.

37. In depriving the Plaintiff of its rights under La. Const. Art. I, 88 7 and 8, the
Defendants have acted under color of law of the State of Louisiana.

38.  The Plaintiff is entitled to relief for this deprivation and violation of its state and
constitutional rights.

Third Cause of Action
Violation of U.S. Const. Amend. 14 — 42 U.S.C. § 1983

39.  The Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in |1
1 through 38 above.

40.  The Plaintiff’s Sunday services constitute expression and religious exercises that
are protected by the guarantees to freedom of speech and to free exercise of religion set forth in
the First Amendment to the United States Constitution.

41. The Defendants’ decision not to allow the Plaintiff or other organizations to use
public school facilities for “worship” activities constitutes intentional, invidious discrimination
against the Plaintiff and other religious organizations on the basis of the exercise of First
Amendment rights and deprives the Plaintiff and other religious organization of the equal

protection of the law guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.
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42.  The Defendants’ decision not to allow the Plaintiff or other organizations to use
public school facilities for “worship” activities is arbitrary, capricious and irrational
discrimination and deprives the Plaintiff and the Plaintiff’s members of equal protection of the
law guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

43. In depriving the Plaintiff of its right to equal protection of the law under the
Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, the Defendants have acted under color
of law of the State of Louisiana.

44.  The Plaintiff is entitled to relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for the deprivation of
rights caused by the Defendants.

Fourth Cause of Action
Violation of La. Const. Art. I, § 12

45.  The Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in
1 through 44 above.

46.  The Plaintiff’s Sunday services constitute expression and religious exercises that
protected by the guarantees to freedom of speech and to free exercise of religion set forth in the
First Amendment to the United States Constitution and La. Const. Art. I, 8§ 7 and 8.

47. The Defendants’ decision not to allow the Plaintiff or other organizations to use
public school facilities for “worship” activities constitutes intentional, invidious discrimination
against on the Plaintiff and other religious organizations on the basis of religion and thereby
violates and deprives the Plaintiff and other religious organizations of their rights under La.
Const. Art. |, § 12,

48. In depriving the Plaintiff of its right to be free from religious discrimination under

La. Const. Art. I, 8 12, the Defendants have acted under color of law of the State of Louisiana.
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49.  The Plaintiff is entitled to relief for the deprivation of its rights under the

Louisiana Constitution.

Fifth Cause of Action
Declaratory Judgment Under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2201-2202

50.  The Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in
1 through 49 above.

51.  There presently exists between the Plaintiff and the Defendants an actual,
justiciable controversy over whether the Defendants have lawfully excluded the Plaintiff from
using school district facilities pursuant to Policy KG or the unwritten amendment thereto.

52.  The Court should declare the respective rights and liabilities of the Plaintiff and
the Defendants regarding the Plaintiff’s right to use School District facilities pursuant to Policy
KG.

53. A judgment should be entered under 28 U.S.C. § 2201 declaring that the
Defendants’ decision not to allow “worship” activities under Policy KG violates the rights of the
Plaintiff under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and La.

Const. Art. I, 88 7, 8 and12,;

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment against all Defendants as follows:

A) that a declaratory judgment be entered pursuant to the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28
U.S.C. 8 2201 et seq., declaring that the Defendants’ refusal to allow the Plaintiff to use facilities
of Calcasieu Parish School Board for Sunday church services violates the Plaintift’s rights under
the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and La. Const.. Art. I, 88

7,8 and 12;
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B) that a preliminary injunction be entered forbidding the Defendants, and officers and
agents under the control or direction of the Defendants, from applying or enforcing an exclusion
from access to school facilities under School Board Policy KG based upon “worship” activities
and to allow the Plaintiff the opportunity to use the Calcasieu Parish School Board facilities for
Sunday Church services or other religious activities on equal terms with other community groups
and organizations;

C) that an order be entered permanently enjoining the Defendants, their officers and their
agents from denying the Plaintiff permission to use facilities of Calcasieu Parish School District
for the Plaintiff’s worship services in accordance with Policy KG of the School District;

D) that this Court award Plaintiff nominal and compensatory damages in an amount to be
determined at trial;

E) that this Court order Defendants to pay Plaintiff’s attorney fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C §
1988, together with costs of this litigation; and

F) such other and further relief as the Court may deem proper.

Dated: April 8, 2011 s/Robert J. Williams

Robert J. Williams

La. Bar # 24909

ROBERT J. WILLIAMS, L.L.C.
4830 Lake Street

Lake Charles, LA 70605
337-562-1116 telephone
337-478-5250 facsimile
robin@rjwilliamslaw.com

Attorney for the Plaintiff

Participating Attorney for
THE RUTHERFORD INSTITUTE
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